CHAPTER XV -
EDUCATION AND CULTURE

Ancient Centres of learning -

Very little is known about the ancient centres of learning
of the region now known as the district of Ganjam. This
country which formed a part of the Kalinga Empire of by-gone
days was rich, populous and extensive. The capital of the
empire was located in this region. There are references to the
land of Kalinga in the Mahabharat, Pali Jatakas and in
different Puranas. Long before the rise of Buddhism, brave
people of this soil made sea-voyages to distant countries
and even established supremacy in some of them. It was
the prosperity of this land which attracted Emperor  Ashok
(273 BC—232 BC) and his forefathers to lead their campaign
into the region. The Ashokan inscription bear evidence of
the lost glory of the people of Kalinga. His inscriptions at Dhauli
in Puri district and Jaugada in Ganjam district like those of
other parts of India are in Pali which is a language of Sanskrit
origin and was different from the ancient language of Kalinga.
Thus some words used in the beginning portions of these two'
inscriptions differ from the same words found in the beginning
portions of his'inscriptions in other parts of India. It has been
supposed that this small change probably represented an allowance
to the local language of the country. “These inscriptions were
perhaps intended more for the teachers themselves, than for the
passerby who in those days did not much care education
through books. Pali and Prakrita seem to have. entered into
Kalinga from the time of its conquest by Magadha and from
this time a language of Sanskrit origin started spreading in this
land®. It is difficult to ascertain the forms of languages prevalent
in this land before. Perhaps the languages of Dravidian and
tribal origin were prevailing in different parts of the land.

Kharavela, the third member of the Chedi dynasty who ruled
Kalinga during.2nd ‘century B.C. was a follower of Jainism,
a religion of northern origin with a sacred language of Sans-
krit origin. It is known from, Jain literature that a religious
centre named ‘Kotitirtha* was located in Kalinga.

The Mathara rulers (4th century.A.D. to 6th century
A.D.) of this country accommodated different faiths like Saivism

*, Panigrahi, K. C.-History of Orissa,
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Buddhism and Vaishnavism. The Buddhist Theris were settlgd
at Palura (modern Palur) on the bank of the Chilika lake in
the district of Ganjam. The Salihundam Buddhist monastery,
a centre of Buddhist learning, was situated on the bank of river
Vansadhara. There were also some other Bauddha Vihars located
in different parts of this region. Sanskrit was in use in this
period. All copper plate grants of the Mathara kings, published
so far, are written in simple and imprecatory Sanskrit verses.
The script used in the inscriptions of the Matharas corresponds
to the type of alphebets found in the epigraphs in East Borneo
of thetime of Purna Burman. It is said that Vishnu &harma,
the compiler of the world famous ‘Panchatantra“ belonged
to this regions which was then ruled by Matharas.

The earliest epigraphic references to the study of Puranas
and Ramayan, so far available, is found in the Paralakhemundi
plate of Shri Pruthivi Maharaja who has been assigned to
the last half of the sixth century.

One comes across very few verses except the imprecatory
ones in the copper plate grants of Eastern Gangas of Kalinga
‘who ruled in the southern part of the present district of
‘Ganjam after ousting the Matharas. Some of the donees
of these grants were proficient in Vedas and Vedantas.
Bhagaban Patanga Sivacharya, a great Sanskrit scholar and
donee of the Dharmalingeswara grant of Devendra Varma
(682 A. D.), was proficient in Vedas, Vedantas, Itihas,
Purana and Nyaya, and was the author of a Sidhanta.

The two published copper plate grants of the Vigraha
family that ruled over the present districts of Puri and Ganjam
in the Gupta Era are also written in Sanskrit prose, the style
of which is somewhat developed.

The Tandivada grant of Shri Prithivi Maharaja and the
Paralakhemundi plates of the same ruler which can be assigned
to the sixth century on palaeographic grounds are also written
in simple prose. It is revealed from this first grant that intensive
study of Smriti, Shruti, Veda, Vedanta, Nyaya, Upanishad and
Yoga was being made by the scholars of that age. Bhava Sharma,
the donee of this grant came of a very learned family and was
the son of Prithivi Sharma and grandson of Vishnu Sharma who
may be identified with the Vishnu Sharma, the main speaker
in the famous Panchatantra. From the Paralakhemundi grant
of the same king issued from Virajanagar (modern Jajpur) it
s known that Purana, Ramayan and Dharma Shastras were
also the subject of study in that age,
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Use of original Sanskrit verses in the Introductory portion
of the royal grants describing the achievements of the donor
and his forefathers are found in Orissa, - for the first time in the
Buguda plates of Madhava Varman of the ‘Sailodbhava family
which ruled over the Puri-Ganjam region inthe seventh century,
perhaps after driving the Vigrahas from that area.*

In the Buddhist records of the 7th century A.D. the Qdiyan,
prasently identified with the coastal strip of land running from
Gopalpur to the south of Ganjam, was one of the centres of
Buddhism and Tantrism. From the accounts of the Chinese
traveller Hiuen Tsang of that century one finds that there were
more than ten Buddhist Monasteries and five hundred brethren
students of the Mahayanist Sthavira school in the land. It is
further revealed from the above record that the present district
of Ganjam was one of the main centres of Buddhism. This
document, however, carries positive evidence to the fact that the
people of Kalinga had no knowledge of the language used in
northern and central India.

The text of different copper plate grants of Bhaumakara
dynasty which ruled over the whole of coastal Orissa extending
from the river Ganga in the north to the Mahendra range in the
south for about 200 years (700 A.D. to 900 A.D.) written in
Sanskrit are very sweet, melodious and impressive. The rhetorical
style of composition of the text of these grants indicates that the
rhetoric, a main branch of Sanskrit literature, was being properly
studied by the pundits of the region. In the Ganjam plate of
Dandi Mahadevi (10th century ) there is mention of a poet
named Jambhana, son of Jayatman. Apart fron the Sanskritlanguage
and literature, which were in flourishing stage in this region, Oriya,
aslanguage, most probably came into being and began to
develop gradually during Bhaumakaras.** :

From 10th century till Orissa lost her independence during
the later half of 16th century, the educational and cultural picture
of Ganjam was almost similar to that prevailing in other parts of
the cocstal Origsa, During the rules of Soma and Ganga dynasties
(10th to early 15th century) Oriya language was in the developing
form. Ganga period provides a number of specimens of the Oriya
language used in ths stone and copper plateinscriptions discovered
from different parts of Orissa. Some of the inscriptions were written

*Mahapatra, K. (Edited)—A Descriptive Catalogue of Sanskrit Manuscripts of Orissa
(Kavya—Aflankar—Sangita Vol.ll.) :

**Mahatab, H. (Dr.}-History of Orissa,
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in Oriya script. Of course the stereotyped language of these records
h1s little literary value. In this period discussion of Sanskrit Kavya
Purana, Vyakarana, etc., were reg ular feature of the society,
Th> Ganga kings were making regular grants of land and money to
the Pandits and educational institutions. The architecture and
culture of Orissa were enriched due to the encouragement of the
rulers. Buddhism, Jainism and Saivism, all made their influence
felt even though the belief of the people of the land centred round
Lord Jagannath.

Development of Oriya literature took place during Suryavans
rules (15th to 16th century). Sarala Dasa, the celebrated poet
of the 15th century, wrote the Oriya ‘Mahabharat”. He, considered
as the real originator of the Oriya literature, wrote his famous epic
during the reign of Kapilendra Dev, the founder of the Surya
dynasty in Orissa. Among the great writers who immediately
followed Sarala Dasain the fifteenth-sixteenth century A.D.
Jagannath Dasa, the composer of the Oriya ‘Bhagabata’, stands
pre-eminent. The works of these two celebrated poets formeda
perennial source of inspiration to the succeeding generations of
writersto write in their mother-tongue. The Oriya rendering of
the Sanskrit epics and Puranas became popular in no time. The
influence of the simple and charming lanugage of OQriya
Bhagabata was such that every village in OQrissa had
a Bhagabata Tungi where Bhagabata was being recited
and listened to by the villagers. The popularity of this scripture
is given as a reason for spread of literacy among Oriyas even
upto the b2ginning of this century. People in those days were
taking up education just to enable them to read mainly the
Bhagabat.

After the establishment of Muslim powerin Orissain 1568, Puri,
a great centre of culture was repeatedly attacked and devastated by
the rulers. As a result, many renowned familiesof this area,
enga}ged in keeping the tradition of culture alive, migrated to
Gfmjam and other places to seek patronage of the semi-independent
Hindu Chieftains. So, from 16th century onwards we find scholars
mostly of Ganjam area settled in different tiny kingdoms, contributed
immensely both to the Sanskritand Oriyaliteratures. The contribution
|n_1ade by Bhanja kings of Ghumusar during this period to Oriya
llJterature is rer.narkable. Dhanjaya Bhanja, Trivikram Bhanja and
rezi;):ra Shan] of Ghumusar Bhanj family were authors of great
I - Upendra B_hanj has rightly been assigned the highest
place in medieval QOriya literature by being called ‘Kavi Samrat”,
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Ancient and Medieval Sanskrit poets

The following are some of the ancient and medieval poets
belonging to this region who enriched Sanskrit literature.

It has already been mentioned earlier that as per tradition,
Vishnu Sharma who compiled the famous ‘Panchatantra‘ hailed
from this area. He belonged to the Mathara rule ( 4th to 6th
century).

Vasudev Praharaj, a leading poet of post-Muslim period,
became famous for his Raghabayadaviya Mahakavyam. He was
born in Athagada kingdom of the district of Ganjam.

Brajasundar Pattanaik, assigned to the first' half of the
eighteenth century, wrote ‘‘Sulochana Madhabkavyam® or
““Madhabiya Charitam®, He adorned the court of Purusottama
Dev of Khemundi kingdom.

Chakrapani Patnaik, who was the son of the famous . poet
Brajasundar Patnaik won the title of Vakravak perhaps from the
then Gajapati Virakeshari Deva for his ready witand powers of
extempore versification. He became famous for his work
‘Gundichachampu’. He also wrote ‘Katakshya Satakams’.

Kaviraja Bhagavan Ratha, a Sanskrit scholar of this district,
flourished in the middle of the 18th century. Two of his works
are ‘Gundichostob Barnanam’ and ‘Mrigaya Ch:mpu”. Both the
books were published in parts.

Kaviratna Harisevaka Samantray, the author of ‘Govindali-
lamrutam’, belonged to this district. His patron Maharajadhiraja
Purusottam Dev was a powerful chieftain of Vijayanagar in the
Khemundi kingdom atthe time of occupation of the region by
the British in 1765 A. D. '

Vasudev Ratha Somyaiji, an inhabitant of Athagada kingdem
of Ganjam district, was the author of the historical Champu
Kavya ‘Gangavansanucharitam’. He is assigned to the 18th
century. Atfirst he was a court-poet of Athagada, but in his
old age he left Athagada and flourished under the patronage of
Purusottam Anangabhima Dev, the enlightened chief of Khemundi

kingdom.

Mahamohopadhyaya Narahari Panda,another famous poet of
Ganjam, who bslonged to mid-sighteenth century was born in the
Khajuria Sasan of Chikiti in Ganjem. Two of his commen-
taries are on ‘Mruchhakatikam’and ‘Meghadutam’.
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Kavibhusan Gopinatha Patra‘s work ‘Kabichintamani” enriched
Alankar literature in Orissa. He belogned tothe mid-eighteenth
century and his patron was Jagannath Narayan Dev of
Paralakhemundi.

Lokanath Tripathy, a descendant of Rajaguru family, belonged
to the town of Paralakhemundi. His work ‘Kavikathahara® (out
of gratitude, the authorship has been ascribed to his patron
Jagannath Nayan Dev of Paralakhemundi estate) was composed
in circa 1760 A. D.

Kaviratna Purohit Sadasiva Udgata belonging to ‘Dharakot
of Ganjam wrote a Rupaka (drama) named ‘Pramodita Govinda
Natakam’. The date of the author is assigned to the eighteenth
century. ,

After British occupation, the ruling chiefs, chieftains,
zamindars and the land-holders who were patronising the scholars,
both Sanskrit and Orlya literature, were either annihilated or
reduced in their status. This resulted in the decline of encoura-
gement which the scholars were getting from their patrons.
The centres of culture like Ghumusar, Paralakhemundi and Vijay-
nagar in Ganjam district were practically crushed under the
British yoke. In spite of these adverse circumstances, we find
some Sanskrit scholars during the long British rule over this
land, about two of whom discussion is made below.

Narasingha Dasa who belonged to the town of Asika, was the
author of ‘Godaranga Vilas". There isalso another incomplete
manuscript of a work called ‘Abhinab Jagannath Prasteb’. The
date of this author isassigned to early 19th century. Damodar
Singha authorised the work ‘Utkantha Malika. He was the
zamindar of Dharakot estate inthe first half of the last century.

Ofthe Sanskrit scholars of this century, the name of Pundit
Ananta Tripathy Sharma, Pandit Brejabandhu Tripathy, Jetircj
Acharya and Kalicharan Rath deserve mention. They
h-3\{e done a lot for the revival of Sanskrit culture in Ganjam.
Jat"?i Acharya devoted his whole life to the culture of Sanskrit
andisthe author of about thirty works almost all of which have
not seen the light of the day. Kalicharan Reth has earned
reputation asa writer of some commentaries.*

D.iscussion about poets and writers of the Oriya literature of
the district will be made in later paregraphs of this chapter.

*M . .
o,i:sr:,f_m\}(’i' “'f' (Edited)—A Descriptive Catalogue of Sanskrit Manuscripts of
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Early Educational System' S :

Education was not for the ‘masses in early days. Only a
privileged few were learning Sanskrit. The scriptures were mostly
written in this language. The top-most of castes, particularly
the Brahmins were the devotees ofthe Sanskrit literature and had
perhaps an aversion to the spoken language and literature,
However, this attitude of the people to their mothertongue changed
when Kapilendra Deva, a son of this soil ruled Odra desa or
Orissa. He gave the people a sense of pride and self-respect,
hope and aspirations and led them to battle fields for his
extensive conquests. A love for Oriya language, {iterature and
culture was, thorefore, aninevitable consequence of the new
ferment created bythe strong and vigorous rule of Kapileswara ®
During his period, asdiscussed earlier, Sarala Dasa wrote his
famous Mahabharat. He was followed by Jagannath Das,
who authored the Oriya ‘Bhagabat’. These two scriptures,
particularly the ‘Bhagabat’ is responsible for the spread of
education among masses. :

In those days books were written on palm-leaf and by iron
stylus. Except a few Sanskrit Tols here and there to teach
Sanskrit, there  was no organised educational
system in the land. The Abadhanas (village Primary teachers
of old days) were engaged at the village level to teach pupils
only in elementary education in an unscientific manner.

In th3 biginning, the Britishers, instead of opening model
schools, encouraged the existing Chatasalis operated by Abadhanas.
Howaver, thay opened training schools to acquaint these teachers
with tha new system of education. The first English school
was opened at Brahmapur by missionaries during twenties of
19th century.** The standard of education of this institution was
not good.

Beginning of Western Education

Macaulay’s famous note of 1835 on education paved the
way for spread of British pattern of education and teaching of
the English language and literature in the country. In spite of
the famous Wood’s Educational Despatch of 1854 which favoured
strengthening of oriental institutions of the country, the Govern-
ment did not take much interest inthe matter and rather
encouraged the spread of English system of education as suggested
by Macaulay and supported by Bentinck’s resolution. Even though
like other parts of Orissa, people of Ganjam did not co-operate with

*Panigrahi, K. C. (Dr.), History of Orissa.
** Samantray, N., Oriya Sahityara Itihas (1803—1920),
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the new educational system in the beginning, gradually they
changed their attitude. The hill chieftains and zamindars Qf this
district at first opposed the new system of education. But with
passing of time, they not only established modern educational
institutions in their areas, some of them even took leadership
in sending their daughters to the newly opened schools. Still
then there were only five Government schools functioning in the
district at Purusottampur, Ganjam, Russelkonda (Bhanjanagar),
Ichhapur and Tekali (last two places now in Andhra Pradesh)
by 1867-68.* There was also one Government managed Zilla
schools at Brabmapur.

The Onslow Institution of Chhatrapur, one of the oldest
schools in the State of Orissa was established in 1855 privately
by Arthur Pooley Onslow, the Collector of Ganiam (July 1849
to January 1854) in memory of his wife R. R. Onslow. **The
Khallikot college which was the premier educational institution
of South Orissa and one of the oldest in the country had its
origin in 1856 as a zilla school entirely under the management
of the Government. The institution was then affiliated to the
Madras University. It continued as a High School until 1878
when F.A. classes were added and the status of the school
was raised to that of an intermediate. college. Around mid-
eighties, Sir Charles Wood, the Chairman of the Education Commi-
ssion, appointed by the Government ofIndia, recommended the
provincialisation education with a view to giving opportunities to
private efforts to the spread of collegiate education. Accordingly,
all high schools in the then Mardras Presidency were released
from Government control and handed over to the local committees.
The people of Brahmapur took over the management of this
junior college. During the early part of 1893 this college was
undergoing such enormous financial strain that it was on the verge
of being closed down. It was at this critical juncture, late
Harihar Mardaraj Deo, the ruler of Kallikot announced his desire
to pay Rs. 200/-per month provided the college was named
after his estate. His donation was accepted and the name of the
college was changed from Native College to Khallikot College
on 16th August, 1893. It is interesting to note here that the college
which had gone over from the Government control to private
management came again under the Government control:in early
seventies of the present century.

During the second half of the last century the ﬂestate.-of
Paralakhemundi had a number of modern schools due to the ardent

* Samantray,N.-Oriya Sahityara Itihas (1802-1920) . -
** Dora A. Suryanaraya n-Ganjam Zilla *°0* Chhatrapur Itihas
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zeal and dedicated endeavour of the then Ruler. A second
grade college was founded in 1896 at Paralakhemundi under
the patronage of the Maharaja. The college was affiliated to the
Madras University. This institution enjoys reputatuon of being
the second oldest college of the district.

The role played by the missionaries, who came to preach
thair religion in establishing educational institutions, especially
in the backward areas of this regions during this period, needs
mention. - The first primary school for boys by Catholic Mission
started at Sorada somet|me in 1880 or 1881.

The District Board of Ganjam made a lot of contributions for
the growth of modern education in the district. During first half
of this century a number of schools were opened in the district
by the Board. When late Dibakar Patnaik was the President of
the Board, a number of Middle English schools were upgraded to
the level of High ‘schools. There were two high schools for girls
in the district located at Brahmapur and Paralakhemundi.

The district being under direct Government administration fora
long time had greater benefit of education then some of the other
districts of the State. After Independence, i.e. in 1950-51 there
woere 1,367 Primary schools, 46 Middle schools, 27 High schools
and 2Colleges for general education in thedistrict. The percentage
of titeracy was 162 in 1951.

The following table shows the number of educational
institutions, students and teachers ( upto High schools) during
the year 1956-57 :

Type of . . No. Scholars Teachers
institution ‘
Q) 12) (3 4

High schools fof boys 38 11,747 529 for both Boys
' and Girls High

schools
High Schools for gitls = 2 484 ..
Middie English schools 49 6,820 316 for both Boys
for boys | " " and Girls M. E.
' ' schools -
Middle Enghsh sdhools -7 922
for girls - _ e

TN
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LITERACY AND EDUCATIONAL STANDARD

Growth of Literacy

The percentage of literacy, as stated earlier, was 16.2 in the
district in 1951. Taking the male population as a whole the
percentage of literates was 28'9 and among females thepercentage
was 4'8. The total numboar of literates returned for the district
in the Census of 1961 was 399, 213 of whom 319,165 were
males and 80,048 females. The percentage of literacy came to
213 comprising 17°0 per cent for males and 4’3 per cent for
females as against the State average of 17'4 per cent and
43 per cent respectively. So far the male population taken as a
whole, the percentage of literates was 35'5. Similarly, among
the females the percentage was 8'2, During the decade 1951 —61
there was an increase of 6’1 per centin literacy in the district.
According to the Census of 1971, the percentage of literacy in the
district was 24°'4 as against the State average of 26:2. Among
males it was 37'8 per cent and among females it was 11°6 per
cent as against the Stateaverage of 383 per cent and 189
per cent respectively. According to the Census of 1981 the
percentage of literacy was 31'31 as against the State average
of 34'23. The male and female percentages were 4598 and
1708 respectively against the State average of 4710 and 21'12.
From the above figures it appears that the percentage of literacy
in the district was lower than the State average. However, the
progress of education during the decade 1971—81 was better
than the decade 1961—71.

Number of Literates
It is found that the number of literates in the district has

considerably increased after Independence. In the Census of
1951, the number of literates in the district was 2,62,785
consisting of 2,22,108 males and 40,677 females. The number
rose to 3,99,213 in 1961 out of which 31,9,166 were malesand
80,048 females. Of the total literates, 3,63,815did not have any
specific educational standard, 24,906 read up to primary or junior
basic standard and the rest were either matriculates or had
higher qualification. In the Census of 1961 any one who could
read and write was considered to be literate. v

According to the Census of 1971, 5.60,104 persons including
4,24,126 males and 135,978 females were found to be literates in
the district of whom 4,38,639 (3,45,195 males and 93,444 females)
belonged to rural areas and 1,21,4656 (78,931 males -and 42,634
females) to urban areas. The highest number of literates were
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found in Brahmapur subdivision. Ghumusar came next in the list.
The number of literates of these two subdivisions were 176,324
and 167,547 respectively. In 1971 Census, a person was said
to be literate if he could both read and write with understanding
in any language.

The tables [ and Il given below indicate the number of literates
(subdivision-wise and according to educational standard) in the
district as per the Census of 1971,

I (subdivision-wise)

Subdivisions Males Females Total

() @ (3) @)
Chhatrapur . 1,23,457 34,178 1,67,635
Brahmapur .. 1,29,379 46,945 1,76,324
Ghumusar .. 127,362 - 40185 1,67,547
Paralakhemundi .. 43,838 14,670 58,608

11 (As per educational standard)

Educational standard Males Females
m (2) (3)

Literate without educational level 72,001 27,995
Primary . .. 2,49,228 88,426
Middle - 74,113 - 16,331
Matriculation or' Higher Secondary 22,707 : 2,631 .
Non-technicaldip loma of certificate 522 25
not equal to degree
Technical dihloma or certificate 698 T
not equalto degree :
Graduates and above - 4,857 570

According to the Census 1981, 816,628 persons including
589,259 males and 227,369 famales were found to be literate
in the district of whom 620,195 (466,296 males and 153,899
famales) belonged to rural areas and 196433 (122,963 males
and 73,470 females) to urban areas.
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Spread of Education among Women

Little attention was paid for spread of education among
women during pre-lndependence days. Girls from the poor and
backward class families were engaged inearning for the families
from their childhood. In middle and higher class families much
importance was given to train girls in household works than to
send them to any educational institution. Girls ataining puberty
were discouraged to continue their studies. In the beginning of
the century there were 2 primary schools speciallymeant for girls
in the whole district. In later years two high schoolswere also
established for them at Brahmapur and Paralakhemundi. After
Independence steps were taken by the State Government for the
promotion of education among women. Emphasis was given to
increase the enrolment of girl students in different educational
institutions. The provisions of attendance, concession in tuition
fee, scholarships and free supply of dress were also introduced
for theregular girl students.

In the year 1958-59, the district had 6 high schools, 8
middle schools including one Ashram school and 79 primary
schools exclusively for girls. There were 29,376 girls studying in
different schools during this year. Qut of these students, 5 were
reading in higher secondary institutions, 1586 in high schools,
125 in senior basic schools, 1,642 in middle schools including
Ashram schools, 25618 in primary schools and 500 in Sevashrams,
This apart, eleven women students were taking elementary
teachers” training whereas 148 girls were admitted in different
art and crafts institutions, and dance and drama schools for
their training. In the subsequent years women education had
made satisfactory progress in the district.

The table given below indicates the gfowth of women
education in various educational Institutions during 1960-61,
1964-65, 1970-71, 1974-75 and 1980-81.

Institutions 1960-61 1964-65 1970-71. 1974-75 1980-81

Colleges :

No. of institutions for women .. 1 1 1 1 1

No. of students .. 125 ‘ 267 527 1051 1,870
High schools :

No. of institutions for Girls . 6 13 21 21

No. of students .o 1,384 503 6561 7899 10744
Senior Basic school

No. of institutions .. N.A. LA NA. | NA.  NA
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